RESEARCH ARTICLE



# Astrobioethical reflections on humanity and its consideration as multi- and interplanetary

Octavio A. Chon-Torres<sup>1</sup> (b) and Julián Chela-Flores<sup>2</sup> (b)

<sup>1</sup>Programa de Estudios Generales, Universidad de Lima, Lima, Peru <sup>2</sup>Applied Physics, ICTP, Trieste, Trieste, Italy **Corresponding author:** Octavio A. Chon-Torres; Email: ochon@ulima.edu.pe

Received: 12 September 2022; Revised: 12 June 2023; Accepted: 3 July 2023; First published online: 7 August 2023

Key words: Astrobioethics, interplanetary humanity, multiplanetary humanity

#### Abstract

We discuss in the context of astrobiology three aspects of the possible evolution of humanity. In addition, from astrobioethics -the study of the moral implications in astrobiology- we ask whether it is necessary to develop new concepts. Thus, it is concluded that we have already started our transition towards an interplanetary humanity; that our actions in the face of the discovery of extraterrestrial life will depend on the context in which we find ourselves; and that it is important to develop new and updated concepts for the scenarios to be faced by the eventual evolution of humanity in space.

# Contents

Can we think of ourselves as a multiplanetary species?	609
What should the ideal of multiplanetary humanity consist of?	609
Regarding the interplanetary possibility: is it possible to conceive ourselves as an	
interplanetary humanity even if we haven't learned to live together in peace on Earth?	610
After finding life on other worlds, a question is forced upon us: do they have rights?	612
A first example concerning care that a multicellular organism deserves	612
A second example concerning microorganisms	612
Need for a new astrobioethical terminology	613
Teloempathy	613
Biogeocentrism	613
Conclusions	614

The new science of astrobiology concerned with four different aspects of life: the origin of life in the universe, its cosmic evolution, its distribution in the universe and its destiny (Dick and Strick, 2004). We are focusing on two of these aspects, namely, the second – the evolution of life in the universe – and the third, its distribution, especially when we restrict our enquiries to the evolution of humans. In other words, we should allow astrobiology to include also the implications of the expansion of humanity in the cosmos as presented in the NASA Astrobiology Strategy (Hays, 2015). We wish to study the ethical implications of research in this context. For this purpose, such reflection on astrobioethics is essential (Martínez-Frías, 2016; Owe, 2019; Persson, 2021; Lo Sapio, 2022), as discussed in a previous paper (Chon-Torres, 2018),

Being so, understanding the possibility that humanity may eventually have a greater presence in the universe, makes us ask ourselves some questions that do not necessarily have a definitive answer. After all, ethics as a branch of philosophy generates doubts, questions, problems, which are updated

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), 2023. Published by Cambridge University Press. This is an Open Access article, distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted re-use, distribution and reproduction, provided the original article is properly cited.

depending on the culture, the time, the position that is defended, among others. This being the case, we present three aspects to reflect upon from astrobioethics -the study of the moral implications in astrobiology- that are totally legitimate, such as the fact of really considering ourselves as a multiand interplanetary species; what should we do in the face of the discovery of other forms of life; and whether it is necessary to develop new concepts around the new problems that astrobioethics forces upon us?

# Can we think of ourselves as a multiplanetary species?

The ideal of being a multiplanetary species represents a conceptual difficulty. If we were to truly become a species different from the present one, we would be genetically different from what we are now. Aldhebiani (2018) outlines the biological characteristics that define a species, including the resemblance between individuals within a species, distinct differences between related species, a definable geographic area that corresponds to environmental conditions, and reduced reproductive success when mating with other species for sexually reproducing taxa. If we understand by multiplanetary species the same humanity that lives on Earth, then it is more convenient to speak of multiplanetary humanity, and the same is true for an interplanetary humanity. Therefore, the problem lies in the use of the term 'species', because that would mean that if there is a multiplanetary species and another interplanetary species, the biological characteristics mentioned above would be different.

Musk (2017) said that our fate as a species is between staying on Earth forever and becoming extinct, or becoming a multiplanetary species, and that the latter option is the one that would be the most desirable. However, a multi-planetary humanity could represent more of an ethical or social ideal than a fact. Only in a scenario where humanity has been able to colonize different planetary environments, and with enough time for considerable genetic differences to emerge, could one speak of being a multiplanetary species, going beyond being *Homo sapiens sapiens* (Chon-Torres and Murga-Moreno, 2021). Therefore, it makes more sense if the reference is made in terms of a moral ideal of humanity, visualizing itself from the possibility of an improvement in its condition.

# What should the ideal of multiplanetary humanity consist of?

First of all, let's define what it means to be multi- and interplanetary. According to Chon-Torres and Murga-Moreno (2021) being multiplanetary would mean the ability of humanity to settle in different planetary environments, while interplanetary would be the ability of humanity to travel between worlds, without necessarily involving the development of settlements on the planets to be explored. In this context, an ideal scenario of multiplanetarity it should be perhaps about the ethical principles shared by the human community residing in the different settlements, or colonies that will be developed in the future. For example, the relationships that we can establish between human settlements from different planetary environments. Every planetary environment involving a specific human population or scenario possesses its unique peculiarities. These peculiarities are key in shaping the manner in which these communities interact with their counterparts from other planets. Yet, this should not be understood as an imposition on the way to manage territories at the multiplanetary level. Here, the extraterrestrials would be us according to the place of origin of each human group. In a multiplanetary context the concept of extraterrestrial life will have to change, since we will be talking about people and/or animals who have been born outside the Earth. Therefore, the appropriate reference for life that originates on Earth is that they are biogeocentric in nature, a term that will be developed in more detail later.

Considering that humanity in space is likely to have a way of administering itself to something more akin to tyranny-since perforce the hostility of space, or other planets forces us to do so-(Cockell, 2018), the limits of what should be done and what is moral must be posed in this multiplanetary community. It would not be good to end up in a dystopia because of the moral degeneration derived from the conditions of habitability to which we will be forced. After all, despite having better technology for terraforming and colonizing worlds, it is no guarantee of improved morals.

Let us consider Mars for this reflection, as it is the planet that Elon Musk refers to when he talks about humanity as a multi-planetary species (Musk, 2017), and it is the same one that Cockell posits as an environment that, in the way the colony is managed, might look more like a prison-dwelling (Cockell, 2018). If we reflect on it at a philosophical level, we should keep in mind that the concepts and ideas we acquire in our life are given by our interaction with the environment. The human mind is not an element separated from the environment, but it is developing and responding according to the conditions in which it lives. We are not saying that the product of this interaction necessarily reflects that it is right or wrong. What we are saying is that all the knowledge we have is conditioned by the ontological aspect, which for humanity is to be a relational being with its environment. Anthropologist Bartra (2014) calls this the exocerebrum. That is, a person does not develop his or her personality and characteristics in isolation, but thanks to the environment, he or she is allowed to form an identity. Thus, let us imagine the environment of an incipient Martian colony, where the conditions of habitability determine a future Martian culture.

If we assume as true the idea that a future colony on Mars would be more like a tyrannical regime, then a Martian culture might see as normal some ethical aspects that would not be tolerated on Earth. For example, some elements that may be similar between how a prison functions and how planetary stations might function are: isolation; strong hierarchies to maintain order; camaraderie and interdependence among members of the population; diversity of cultures and knowledge; awareness of the challenges of such a population (Cockell *et al.*, 2021).

Clearly, this does not assume that these conditions will be this way forever; eventually, in an optimistic scenario, terraforming could at some point allow for greater freedom. However, we are talking in the long term, and the way of interacting in a Martian culture will have markedly different ways from those of other colonies, or of Earth itself, with other regulations and idiosyncrasies. And this way of managing human colonies would not be limited to Mars, but may extend even further, especially if we consider that 'There are aspects of the space environment that are predictably tyrannous and they are despotic in a way which evades specific definitions of liberty' (Cockell *et al.*, 2021, p. 24). Under this scenario, the vulnerability of actually becoming not only a tyrannical-like regime form -by necessity-, but also falling into corrupt management, makes the notion of multiplanetary moral community stronger. This situation is not entirely foreign to us. Here on Earth during the measures taken to fight the pandemic, some nations have distorted the primary purpose of caring for people to one of controlling people, especially in authoritarian-leaning governments.

In the 'short' term, the first multiplanetary community would not necessarily guarantee the presence, or idea of a united humanity, but of different 'humanities' scattered in the Solar System, some of which may not represent the ideal of democracy. In any case, we have a situation far from being uniform. However, an optimistic vision about this diversity could have been given by Stapledon (1948), since he said that this should be one of the objectives of humanity, since it will allow new ways of understanding the universe, not only on a scientific level, but also on a human and spiritual level.

# Regarding the interplanetary possibility: is it possible to conceive ourselves as an interplanetary humanity even if we haven't learned to live together in peace on Earth?

Having observed that it is complicated to consider ourselves as a truly multi-planetary species, we should examine whether we can at least conceive of ourselves as an interplanetary species. As we live today, with the struggle of political and economic powers, it does not seem that we will overcome our differences by the time we manage to visit and colonize other worlds. Therefore, it is not even a prerequisite for humanity to manage itself as a true planetary species in order to then be conceived as interplanetary.

We live in a globalized and interconnected world. However, even with challenges as the COVID-19 pandemics, we have not learned to coexist in a more peaceful way, and even new wars continue to be generated. For this reason, it might be more probable to assume that our history in space will not be

exempt from such scenarios either. In an environment where each country looks after its own space interests, it could be a matter of time before political disputes arise over the right to settle in certain places on the Moon or Mars. This situation is reminiscent of Thomas Hobbes' idea that man is a wolf to man, *homo homini lupus*, were updated to the space level, living in constant mistrust and trying to overcome the other in order not to be overcome first.

Even so, the process of becoming an interplanetary humanity depends more on the technological condition in which we find ourselves. Thus, it is more appropriate to think that we are at the beginning of a technological progress called interplanetary. The technology that is currently being assessed seeks to finally develop a future beyond Earth. Currently, with NASA's Artemis Project, for example, the aim is to have a permanent presence on the Moon, similar to that of the International Space Station. Interplanetary is part of the technological process involved in taking humanity to other planetary and non-planetary environments.

A future scenario of humanity in space is that despite having a kind of Interplanetary United Nations, there is still some division inside each country. That is, humanity will not see itself as a planetary species unified. We will not be a great planetary nation, and explorations into space will be driven by the interests of each country or, more likely, bloc of countries (and private entities like SpaceX, also). For example, one set of countries has certain interests in conducting research on the Moon, while other countries also have the same interests, but just because they have them does not mean that they will be permanently united. Interests in space exploration would not seem to determine the rapprochement between nations at the political level, as that responds to other motives. This is related to another scenario that is also now a fact, the militarization of space.

Although official documents such as the Outer Space Treaty from 1967 indicate that space should be used only for peaceful purposes and research (United Nations, 2002), in practice the outcome may be different. It is likely that some areas of the Moon will be militarized in the near future, under the guise of being a deterrent. With the increasing demand for resources on Earth, some countries and private actors may see the Moon as a potential source of resources, tensions and conflicts that could eventually lead to militarization; If a country has a significant presence on the Moon, it may view this as a matter of national security and could deploy military forces to protect its interests, this could lead to the militarization of the Moon.

Essentially, it is likely that military activities and operations will occur in space because the technology used for things like telecommunications is very important, and nations will want to protect and defend this infrastructure. This means that defensive and offensive tools will be necessary, so that if there is a conflict between countries, they can disable certain strategic points of their rivals that are located in space (Bernat, 2019). It does not seem to be the case that this trend will change in the near future, so an interplanetary humanity will still experience this tension between nations.

Regarding the latter, perhaps we will not have overcome the so-called 'planetary iron age' (Morin, 2009). The concept of the 'planetary iron age,' as described by Edgar Morin, refers to the current state of humanity. Despite being aware of each other's existence and living on a single planet, we still behave in ways that create division and conflict rather than unity. Morin argues that we have not yet learned how to truly coexist with each other. If we apply this concept to a future scenario in which humans settle on other planets, it is likely that we will continue to struggle with these same issues. The same tendencies towards division and conflict that exist on Earth may persist on other planets as well. It is unclear whether we will ever be able to fully overcome these challenges, but we can strive to live with them in the best way possible. Throughout human history, we have faced numerous obstacles and challenges, and we have often found ways to adapt and overcome them. This resilience and adaptability may be necessary as we continue to expand our presence beyond Earth.

The above has been a reflection on the consideration of humanity as multi or interplanetary. However, in the journey ahead, there is the possibility of encountering other life forms. Beyond whether humanity can really overcome its differences as a result of these discoveries, it remains to examine what should be done in the event of any direct contact with life forms outside of Earth.

#### After finding life on other worlds, a question is forced upon us: do they have rights?

The question is relevant because it implies our limitation of action towards these life forms as a humanity multi- or interplanetary. To understand what limitation will be necessary, we should realize that new questions will be forced upon ethicists. These include whether living beings on other worlds, or microorganisms have rights. Fortunately, this is not an altogether foreign discussion, divorced from mainstream moral philosophy, which is based on questions that ethicists consider to be relevant for human beings on Earth. We argue, following (Persson, 2013), that ethical concepts may be universal, not constrained to humans alone. Ethics has been extended to – animals – non-human species on Earth, by Peter Singer, even though, he does not reason in terms of rights (Singer, 1993).

Under the assumption of finding life on other worlds, the concepts developed for non-human species (terrestrial animals) serve as a convenient starting point: We extend astrobioethics to encompass the more general problem of finding a sound moral basis for relations with those outside our own species: not just to include animal standing, a topic that has been extensively discussed (as mentioned above).

But more relevant still are the following two questions: Do they have rights and why should we act morally? How far should we extend our ethical codes with such unprecedented questions in moral philosophy? These questions are suggested by astrobiology: planetary protection, terraforming and, especially with respect to non-human species, including microorganisms. But we should further keep in mind that if a planet is already inhabited, do we have the right to occupy and terraform it?

#### A first example concerning care that a multicellular organism deserves

We generally accept the Principle of Equality as a proper ethical basis for relations with other human beings and extend it to animals as well. In other words, we are aware that the Principle of Equality is also a proper ethical basis for the more restricted question of human-nonhuman relations on Earth. This is a natural extension of the Theory of Justice, whose principles are chosen behind a veil of ignorance. This ensures that no one is advantaged or dis advantaged by the outcome of natural chance (Rawls, 1972). In the case of astrobioethical considerations, we are aware of our ignorance of the eventual confrontation with extraterrestrial life. Giving a future confrontation, we should keep in mind the related Principle of Equality raising the Rawls consideration to this novel situation presented to us by the distribution of life in the universe, which is the aspect of astrobiology referred to at the beginning of this work.

In the case of non-intelligent complex life forms there would be no major problem, the necessary care should be taken not only because they represent an interest in research, but also because they have value in themselves. Rights-based ethics would be an appropriate first approach for dealing with extra-terrestrial life, in analogy with cases that have been discussed for non-voluntary decisions.

Our search for other manifestations of the phenomenon of life that astrobiology encourages us to search with the appropriate instrumentation, ranges from microbial evolution in the Solar System to the evolution of intelligence in worlds elsewhere in our galaxy that we may eventually be revealed by means of the SETI Project (Drake and Sobel, 1992).

On the assumption that complex life forms -and with the capacity to feel pain- are confirmed, they should be treated with an empathy similar to that of terrestrial animals. In the words of Cockell (2005*a*, 2005*b*; Cockell *et al.*, 2021) from a teloempathic point of view, expanding our moral consideration towards extraterrestrial life forms is necessary. In the case of non-intelligent complex life forms there would be no major problem, the necessary care should be taken not only because they represent an interest in research, but also because they have value in themselves.

#### A second example concerning microorganisms

The possibility of discussing Europa's habitability was raised very early (Reynolds *et al.*, 1983), and was renewed soon after the arrival of the Galileo mission to the Jovian system. A theoretical paper inspired by the possibilities of future exploration of Europa, suggested that beyond the Galileo mission

itself, novel instrumentation was conceivable, even though it had not been included in the payload of Galileo: the proposed future instrumentation was a submersible called a 'hydrobot' that would have been coupled to an ice-breaker, called a 'cryobot' (Horvath *et al.*, 1997). A relevant question arising from the theoretical paper of Horwath *et al.*, was whether the cryobot was to be driven with nuclear energy in order to penetrate the European icy surface more efficiently. The question of considering nuclear-powered cryobots has been raised in the context of solar system exploration, especially for Mars (Elliott *et al.*, 2003). The levels of fission power and related harmful radiation are normally small for humans.

A study was conducted in order to investigate whether a surface fission power system was applicable for landed missions. In the course of their study, it became clear that the application of such a power system was possible for a wide range of missions for solar system exploration (Ulamec *et al.*, 2007), Their study was concerned with fission electrical power of the order of a few kilowatts (kW), abbreviated as kWe. This level is needed for payloads that are feasible, since the alternative of radioisotope power systems becomes unmanageable, being too massive and expensive. These proposals illustrate the need to take care while probing other worlds where there are potential biotopes, as in the case of the European ocean.

In this scenario, microbial life forms may also be of teloempathic interest, but being simpler forms, their ability to feel pain - assuming this - would be left out.

#### Need for a new astrobioethical terminology

#### Teloempathy

Since we are facing new scenarios, in the form of thought experiments, we are faced with the need to employ new concepts to better develop the subject matter in the ethics of astrobiology. One of these concepts is that of teloempathy. This concept, coined by Cockell (2005b), refers to the moral consideration we can have towards non-intelligent extraterrestrial life forms. Considering that it is in our hands to protect them, under the idea of teloempathy it would be part of our ethical duty to help them at least not to be annihilated.

# Biogeocentrism

Another relevant term for astrobioethics is 'biogeocentrism', a concept, critically analysed in a recent book (Chela-Flores, 2011, p. 291) – This is actually not the standard view, some believe it, but most scientists and philosophers apparently do not) – Such divergent opinions deserve special attention. It reflects a tendency observed in some contemporary scientists and philosophers, according to which life is only likely to have occurred on Earth, an opinion maintained by Darwinists, paleobiologists and molecular biologists: Ernest Mayr made the radical assumption that life in other worlds has an 'improbability of astronomical dimensions' (Mayr, 1995). Simon Conway-Morris writes: 'To reiterate life may be a universal principle, but we can still be alone' (Conway-Morris, 2003, p. 328). Finally, Jacques Monod summarized his faith in biogeocentrism in the following terms: The present structure of the biosphere certainly does not exclude the possibility that the decisive event occurred only once. (Monod, 1972).

But philosophers, both modern and ancient, have also taken part in the discussion for and against biogeocentrism. Indeed, we should go further back in time to come to grips with the larger philosophical issues of a second Genesis (Chela-Flores, 2009): Western philosophy began raising the question of the intelligibility of nature, as far back as with the first Greek philosophers, who were called physicists (Russell, 1991), but in the background of the pioneering ideas of the plurality of worlds stated by the Greek atomists: Democritus, c. 460 - c. 370 BC, as reported by Hippolitus, and the Epicurian school, including Simplicius and Metodorus of Kios, Aristotle, himself did not elaborate on the ideas of his predecessors (Bertola, 2001). In spite of Aristotle's seminal influence, the idea of the plurality of

worlds was not abandoned. It was carried on in the Roman world by the philosopher and poet Lucretius (ca 98-54 AC) in *De Rerum Natura* (**On the Nature of Things**), he did not exclude the possibility of other inhabited Earths, cf., vv. 1023–1047 (Bertola, 1999). Yet, as mentioned above, among modern philosophers and scientists, including Darwinists, traces of biogeocentrism still persevere, two and a half millennia after the birth of Democritus.

# Conclusions

- 1. The idea of a multi- or interplanetary humanity may evoke the notion of a united humanity. However, as has been discussed above, this is not necessarily the case. In fact, it is possible that we may end up establishing ourselves outside of the Earth with divisions due to the struggle of interests and political grudges arising in the countries of origin. Can we think of ourselves as a multi-and interplanetary humanity? Yes, we can, but with important ethical and political limitations that will determine the future of us in space. In addition, it is more than likely that even sharing other planetary environments, we have not finished feeling like a planetary humanity in relation to Earth, and this can be extrapolated to the different bases and settlements that are to be erected in the Solar System, so we could speak of different 'humanities' in the sense of political and economic interests.
- 2. With respect to the scenario in which we find complex extraterrestrial and microbial life forms, the protocol to be used will have differences. That is to say, it will not be the same to act if it is confirmed that the life form found has the capacity to feel or not. However, this does not mean that the fact that it does not feel confers an inferior quality (in relation to their moral status), but, as on Earth, our approach and ways of dealing with it will differ. Now, the final way of dealing with any of these life forms, microbial, or otherwise, will depend on the interests of the human group or nations in charge, and also depend on the interests of the organisms in question. If at present a particular country -even a company- has the capacity to study extraterrestrial life forms -in the hypothetical case that it is discovered- and in the process of studying it, it endangers or even damages it, there is no international law or regulation that sanctions what is being done.
- 3. It is important to develop an appropriate terminology to be able to dialogue and discuss issues related to morality and astrobiology, i.e. astrobioethical terminology. Our actions are guided by the concepts we use, and in order to deal appropriately with new scenarios, it is important to update those concepts. Talk of teloempathy, biogeocentrism and even astrobiocentrism, are just some of the words that are beginning to be integrated into the vocabulary of astrobiology, and of any discussion that relates to the reflection of life in the universe, and/or our expansion in it.

Conflict of interest. The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

#### References

Aldhebiani A (2018) Species concept and speciation. Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences 25, 437-440.

Bartra R (2014) Anthropology of the Brain: Consciousness, Culture, and Free Will. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Bernat P (2019) The inevitability of militarization of outer space. Safety & Defense 5, 49–54.

Bertola F (1999) La pluralità dei mondi. In Sindoni E and Sinigaglia C (eds), Carlo Maria Martini Orizzonti E Limiti Della Scienza Decima Cattedra di non Credenti. (In the series "Scienze e Idee", directed by G. Giorello. Milan: Raffaello Cortina Editore, pp. 7–25.

Bertola F (2001) The plurality of worlds. In Chela-Flores J, Owen T and Raulin F. *The First Steps of Life in the Universe*. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers, pp. 401–407.

Chela-Flores J (2009) A Second Genesis, Stepping-Stones Towards the Intelligibility of Nature. Singapore: World Scientific Publishers, 248 pp.

Chela-Flores J (2011) The Science of Astrobiology A Personal Point of View on Learning to Read the Book of Life, 2nd Edn. Book series: Cellular Origin, Life in Extreme Habitats and Astrobiology, Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer, p. 250 and 291. ISBN: 978-94-007-1626-1.

Chon-Torres O (2018) Astrobioethics. International Journal of Astrobiology 17, 51-56.

Chon-Torres O and Murga-Moreno C (2021) Conceptual discussion around the notion of the human being as an inter and multiplanetary species. *International Journal of Astrobiology* 20, 327–331. Cockell C (2005a) Planetary protection – a microbial ethics approach. Space Policy 21, 281–292.

- Cockell CS (2005b) Duties to extraterrestrial microscopic organisms. Journal of the British Interplanetary Society 58, 367–373.
- Cockell C (2018) Life Beyond: From Prison to Mars. London: British Interplanetary Society, p. 187. ISBN-10: 1983289086.
- Cockell C, Perera L and Bass R (2021) Planning the human future beyond earth with the prison population: the life beyond project. *Astrobiology* **November** 1438–1449. http://doi.org/10.1089/ast.2021.0031.
- Conway-Morris S (2003) *Life's Solution Inevitable Humans in A Lonely Universe*. Cambridge UK: Cambridge University Press, p. 328.
- Dick SJ and Strick JE (2004) The Living Universe: NASA and the Development of Astrobiology. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press.
- Drake F and Sobel D (1992) *Is There Anyone out There? The Scientific Search for Extraterrestrial Intelligence*. New York, USA: Delacorte Press, Bantam Doubleday Publishing Group.
- Elliott JO, Lipinski RJ and Poston DI (2003) Mission Concept for a Nuclear Reactor-Powered Mars Cryobot Lander. In: AIP Conference Proceedings 654, 353, https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1541314.
- Hays L (ed.) (2015) The Astrobiology Strategy 2015. USA: NASA. Available at https://nai.nasa.gov/media/medialibrary/2015/10/ NASA Astrobiology Strategy 2015 151008.pdf
- Horvath J, Carsey F, Cutts J, Jones J, Johnson E, Landry B, Lane L, Lynch G, Chela-Flores J, Jeng T-W and Bradley A (1997) Searching for ice and ocean biogenic activity on Europa and Earth, in Instruments, Methods and Missions for Investigation of Extraterrestrial Microorganisms R.B. Hoover, ed., Proc. SPIE 3111, 490–500. http://www.ictp.it/~chelaf/searching\_for\_ice.html.
- Lo Sapio L (2022) The ethics of astrobiology: humanity's place in the cosmos and the extinction problem. *Frontiers in Astronomy* and Space Sciences 9, 1008265.
- Martínez-Frías J (2016) IAGETH Working Grooup on Astrobioethics. Available at https://www.icog.es/iageth/index.php/p3loki-gn/.
- Mayr E (1995) The search for extraterrestrial intelligence. In Zuckerman B and Hart MH (eds), *Extraterrestrials. Where are they*?, 2nd edn. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 152–156.
- Monod J (1972) Chance and Necessity An Essay on the Natural Philosophy of Modern Biology. London: Collins, p. 136.
- Morin E (2009) Introduccion al Pensamiento Complejo. Spain: Gedisa.
- Musk E (2017) Making humans a multi-planetary species. New Space 5, 46-61.
- Owe A (2019) Environmental ethics in outer space Longtermsustainability of the human species. European Planetary Science Congress.
- Persson E (2013) Philosophical aspects of astrobiology. In Dunér D, Pathermore J, Persson E and Holmberg G (eds), *The History* and *Philosophy of Astrobiology*. UK: Cambridge Scholars Press, pp. 29–48.
- Persson E (2021) Astrobioethics. In *Encyclopedia of Astrobiology*. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-27833-4 5356-1.
- Rawls J (1972) A Theory of Justice. Cambridge Mass: Harvard University Press, pp. 11-17.
- Reynolds RT, Squyres SW, Colburn DS and McKay CP (1983) On the habitability of Europa. Icarus 56, 246-254.
- Russell B (1991) History of Western Philosophy and its Connection with Political and Social Circumstances From the Earliest Times to the Present Day. (Chapter XXIII, Aristotle's Physics.) 2nd Edn. London: Routledge, pp. 213–216.
- Singer P (1993) Practical Ethics, 2nd Edn. United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press, pp. 55-62.
- Stapledon O (1948) Olaf Stapledon: interplanetary man? Journal of the British Interplanetary Society 7, 213-233.
- Ulamec S, Biele J, Funke O and Engelhardt M (2007) Access to glacial and subglacial environments in the Solar System by melting probe technology. *Reviews in Environmental Science and Biotechnology* 6, 71–94.
- United Nations (2002) United Nations Treaties and Principles on Outer Space. New York, UN: United Nations Publication.